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Antonio da Crevalcore was highly regarded by his contem-
posanes as both a painter of sall-lifes and a musician, his
artistic ocuvre remains the subject of debare. It has beea
that he trained in Ferrara, because of the stylistic
similagitics his work shares with other Ferrarese painters
working in Bologna, such as Francesco del Cossa and
Ercole de’ Robern, The influence of Cossa’s Bolognese
paindng on Crevaleore is clear, especially of the Pala de/
Mercanti (Bologna, Pin. N,), but the connection berween
Cossa’s Ferrarese works or Ercole de’ Roberti’s later
Ferratese paintings and Crevalcore is less evident,
Crevalcore is first documented in Bologna in 1478 and
_recorded as "Master Antonio, the painter of the Cappella
S Proclo’ in 1491. The date of his death has been deduced
from his inclusion in Girolamo Casio de’ Medici's book
of cpitaphs (1525). His only signed and dated painting
was the Fioly Family (1493; ex-Kaiser-Friedrich Mus.,
Beddin, destr.). Other works aunbuted 1o him include the
ponmait of the Saorati Fanrily (Munich, Alte Pin ), the Foly
Family with St Jobn the Baptist (Srutigart, Staatsgal.), the
Portrait of a Yosung Manr with the sigl AF.P. [2Antonins
Ferrariensis pinxit] (Venice, Correr) and three large tem-
pera paintings on canvas of the Vignr and Child uith an
Angel, St Paul and St Peter (London, prv, col., see Sgarbi,
1985
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Antonio dz Trento

A signed triptych of the Virgin and Child with Angels and
Saintr (Genga, S Clemente) is dated by documents to
1474. The frescoes of the Crnafisaon with Dominicans and
Christ usth Donsinican Saints (both Fabtiano, Convent of
S Domenico) have a suggested date of «. 1480 (Borgogelli),
Antonio da Fabtizno’s approach to light and volume
refiects the influence of Pieso della Francesca, perhaps
acquired through the wozk of Gerolamo di Giovanni da
Camerino and Giovanni Bocean. Antonio’s only signed
work of sculpture is 2 marble wbernacle (Fabriano
Cathedral).
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A io da M, llo Bencivenni, Ser BENCIVENNI,
ANTONIO,

Antonio da Negroponte. See FALIER, ANTONIO,

Antonio da Trento (& Trent; # Bologna, « 1527). Tralian
printmaker, Of six documented chiaroscuro woodcuts by
the artist (ewo signed, four mentioned by Vasari), five are
skilfully cut in a very controlled two-block stle, for
example Nide Man in a Landseape (0. p. 148,50, 13). The
sixth, the Martyrdomr of Twe Saints-(B. p. 79, no. 28; for
illustration see WOODCUT, CHIAROSCURQ), is 2mong the
best of lwlian multple-block chiaroscuros. All are after
designs by Parmigianino. According to Vasa, Parmigia-
nino, arnving in Bologna after the Sack of Rome in 1527,
stayed with a friend for several months and retained
Antonio 1o instruct him in the cutting of two- and three-
block prints. Although Vasar stated elsewhere that Par-

Antonio (Leonelli) da Crevalcore (b Crevaicore; o
before 1525), Imlian painter and musician. Although

Pt



 himaelfas an elderly, bearde tiones with his fdma tl
in the Muslim manner, suggesting thas he had converted
1o Islam. The visual difference in his age is corroborated
by the inscription, which reads: ‘A portrait of Balchand, a
slave of the court. Work of Balchand, the old servaar,
These self-portraits lend further evidence to the view that
the Pidshibmina was produced over 3 numbet of years.

Sor @lro INDIAN SUBCONTINENT, V. A((b)-(d).
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JOHN SEYLLER
Baldaccini, César, Ser ClisAR.
Baldachin, Ser CraoRIUM (ii).
Baldassare da Urbino. See LANCI, BALDASSARE.

Bald d'Este [Baldassare da Regio] (b .
Emm:,“:;:zo 7 [332; d after 29 Jan 1&0%).%

painter and medallist He was brought up as the adopted
son of 2 cermin Giovanni Banayn, but & decument of
1489 records him as the (illegiimate) son of Niccold 111
d’Este, Matquis of Ferrara, In most documents, however,
he is called * a]dassur:l:rmgio’.

Baldassare is first 4 & paintes in a document
of 16 January 1461 from the Viscont Sforza ducal
in Milan, in which he is given permission to travel for two
years. This suggests that he had been working for the
Dukes of Milan for some time. In 1466 he WEHM
lite for an altarpicee for the Ospedale e in Milan,
In February 1469 he painted posteuits of Gulsergs Mirfa
Sforzs, Duke of Milan aad his wife, Bona of Savgy, I the
ducal casde at Pavia,

In late September 1469, with recommendations
from Galeazzo Masia (in a Jetter of 5 June 1469), Baldas-
sare arrived in Ferrara, There he painted ts of Borse
@'Este, Duke of Ferrara and members of the ducal coust.
His only and dated wosks are three medals of 1472
depicting Ercole I d'Eiste, the newly invested Duke of
Ferrara. In 1472 he evaluated Cosimo Tum’s work in the
Este chapel at Beliguardo. In 1473, Baldassaze painted
owo postraits of Sl £, to be sent to the Duke’s betrothed,
Eleanora of and was commissioned to ‘touch up'
the frescoes, i uding 36 portraits of Borso, of the Salone
dei Mesi in the Palazzo Schifanoia in Ferrara, A postrait
of Borio d'Este (Milan, Castello Sforzesco) has beea
attributed to Bald , b of its similarity to the
porezzits in the Schifanoia frescoes. Other works that have
also been arsibuted to him include the porteait of Tio

frescoes depicting the Life of S¢
Chapel of Smm,%m. and an altarpiece with the
Tnﬁ Aposties for the nuns of Mormara in S Maria dellc
Gragie. Baruffalds secorded rwo further altarpieces by him:
one, of St Thomar Aguinas and St CﬂlMM. in S Matia
degli Angeli, Ferrars, and the other in S M;n: della
Consolazione, Ferrara, the predella of which illustrated
scenes from the ife of Abbet Carlo Lalli. All these works,
with the possible exception of the Tinve Apostles, which
Venturi (1887) suggested might be the large panel of the
Death of the Virgin (Milan, Bib, Ambrosiana), are untraced.
Longhi (1934) czeated the persona of Vicino d_a ‘.:“'
rara', under which name he grouped a number of paintings
stylistically close to Ercole de’ Roberi’s eady work. In
1940 Longhi suggested that this gxouz of works might be
by Baldassare d’Este; later (1940-55) he identified ‘Vicmo
da Ferrara’ with Baldassare (all these articles are reprinted
in Longhi, 1975). However, it is hard to accept most of
these zather awkward paintings as the work of an arnst
farned for his skill as # portrait painter, and so the question
of the extent of Baldassare’s ocuvee must remain open.
In 1476 Baldassare was appointed Capirano of the Porta
Castello in Reggio Emilia; though appareatly not well
suited to the post, he continued in it for at keast 30 years.
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continued to participate in Fluxus activities in the 1970s,
later returning to word-paintings that resembled his catly
work, such as_['attends la guerre (1981; Paris, Pompidou).
Ben relished his role as a debunker of the acrivities of
dealess, critics, art schools and of artists themselves, selling
monochrome canvases at cost price and filling his news-
paper, Arthémes, and his revues (eg. La Fenétre, 1973),
with 2 mixture of analysis and gossip. After the Galetie
Ben Doute de Tout closed in 1973, it was taken apart and
reconstructed as a work of art eatided Ben's Shaop (1958-
. 73, Pads, Pompidou). In summer 1990 Ben’s Caravane
des Arts travelled around France,
WRITINGS
Towt Len (Pasis, 1974) [car, rai.]
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VANINA COSTA

Benaglio [Benalius], Francesco [Francesco di Pietro
della Biada] (4 « 1430; 4 Verona, ?1492), Italian painter.
He adopted his professional name from a noble Bergamask
family then living in Verona. His earliest documented
work is-the signed triptych of the Virgin and Child
Entbroned Adored by St Bernard with S5 Peter, Payl,
Francis, Jerome, Louis of Toulouse and Anthony of Padua
{1462; Verona, Castelvecchio), executed for $ Bernardino,
Verona. Itis a relatively free copy after Mantegna’s S Zeno
Alrarpicce (Verona, § Zeno), although much more deco-
rative in the detils and less secure in the spatial arrange-
meat of the saints. Benaglio’s name regularly appears in
the Veronese tax records from 1465 to 1482, In 1475, he
and a painter named Martino were condemned to four
months in prison for painting obscene figures on the
fagade of the Palazzo Sagramoso. In 1476 he finished a
resco of S5 Bartholomew, Zeno, Seronse and Francis (destr.
1738) in S Maria della Scala. In 1492 Benaglio’s son
Girolamo is listed as an orphan, indicating that his father
must have died that year, .
Other signed works by Benaglio include the St Anthony
(Washington, DC, N.G.A.), the Virgin and Child (ex-
Chalandon priv. col., Paris), the Virgin and Child {(Wash-
ington, DC, N.G.A.) and the Madonna del Ventaglio
(Verona, Castelvecchio). The signature on the Virgin with
Four Saints (Rome, Pal. Venezia) appears to be false.
BIBLIOGRAPHY
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light Cicognara, Antonio ( ff1480-21500). Italian painter and
q as. iluminator. A Virgin and Child (Ferrara, Pin. N.), signed

and dated Antonii Cicognarii Pictura anno domini 1480,
shows him to have been an extremely feeble painter at
that date. Longhi (1934) and Ruhmer (1957) proposed
that Cicognara had played a substantial role in the deco-
ration of the Salone dei Mesiin Palazzo Schifanoia, Ferrara,
11 years caslier, but this themmﬂdymdhas not
been generally accepted. His eariest ceresin work is as a
miniaturist in Cremona, where he illuminated two Antiph-
onaries and 2 Psalter for the cathedral berween 1482 and
1483. The miniature of Jsaiah on fol. 3r of the Psalter
(Cremona Cathedral, Cod. IV) is signed and dated 1483,
He is also documented in Cremons oa 17 December 1486

i and Child
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(sometimes called physioramas, naturoamas and poecilor-

amas) in London weze in the Lowther Bazaar, the St

james’s Bazaar, the Royal Bazaar, the Queen’s Bazaar, the

Saville House Bazaar, the Grand Oriental Bazaar and the

Wateroo Rooms. In the English provinces cosmoramas

were established at Bristol, Manchester, Exeter, Derby

and other majoe cities. Many of the paintngs shown wete
by French artists, although a few were by Clarkson

Stanficld, Frederick Nash (1762-1896) and Keany Mead-

ows. John Martin’s paintings provided an occasional

source.

In Europe the principal cosmorama artist was Hubert
Sacder (1817-1904). He was the son of the panoramist
Johann Michael Satler (1786-1847), who from 1829
toured Europe exhibiting a panorama of Salzburg in 2
transportable rotunda, which he setup in the market-place
of each town visited. Hubert Satder’s cosmoramas were
displayed ithes in the corridor beneath the panorama, or
in a separate ‘art hut'. In his search for subjects Sartler
ravelled widely, to Iraly, Greece, Turkey, Syria, Egypt, the
east coast of the USA, Mexico and the West Indies, He
visited New York in 1850, exhibiting his cosmoramas in
an iron hut on Broadway at 13th Sereer. In 1870 he
presented the city of Salzbug with his father’s panorama
and over one hundred cosmoramas, Sattler’s cosmoramas
are preserved in the Salzburger Museum.
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Cossa, Francesco del (& Ferrara, & 1435; d Bologna,
1476-T). Italian painter. Together with Cosimo Tura and
Ezcole de’ Roberti, Cossa was onc of the most important
painters working in Ferrata and Bologna in the second
half of the 15th century, With them he shared an expressive
use of line and solidity of form, but he also had a gift for
decorative and anecdoral scenes, most evident 1n the
frescoes in the Palazzo Schifanoiz, Ferrara

1. To 1470. The date of Cossa's birth must be deduced
from information contained in two sets of documents
relating to his death. As the coda to two epigrams he
dedicated to the paintes, the Bolognese jurisconsult Lo-
dovico Balognini recorded that Cossa died at the age of
forty-two yeats, two months and eight days, The date of
Cossa’s death can be inferzed from epigrams and lettess
of 1477 exchanged between two Bologaese gendemen,
Angelo Michele Salimbeni and Sebastiano Aldrovandi, in
which Cossa is desesibed as not long dead. In combinator,
these documents allow ane to place his birth around 1435,
Cossa was born into an arustic family. His father, Cristo-
foro del Cossa, was 2 mason who had worked on the
campanile of Ferrara Cathedral. His uncle Antonio del
Cossa was also a mason who worked on several of the
Este casdes. Cossa’s mother was Fiordelisa Mastria.




The caddiest record of Cossa’s artistic activities is &
document of 11 September 1456, in which the Fabbrica
of Ferrara Cathedral paid him 3 lire 5 soldi for a work to
be placed on the high altar. The intespretadon of this
document is problematic. Scalabrini transeribed the pay-
ment as for an altarpicce of 2 Pleré composed of three
half-figures’, while Cittadeila read the document as speci-
fying ‘three half-figures of stone’ (prefra). The fact that
Cossa is described as a painter in the document lends
support to Scalabrini’s reading, but, coming as he did from
a family of masons, Cossa's first work could easily have
been a sculptural group. The work was destroyed in 1727,
without its appearance being recorded. The possibility that
Cossa might have been 2 practising sculptor is further
supported by references in the letters and epigrams of
Salimbeni and Aldrovandi: Salimbeni praised Cossa spe-
cifically as a sculptor, comparing him with Polykleitos and
Phidias; Aldrovandi referred to him a5 2 modem Skopas
or Praxiteles. Following these indicadons, critics have
attempted to attribute 2 number of sculptural works to
Cossa, the most notable pieces being the decorative friczes
of the portal of the Palazzo Schifanoia, Ferrara (ser
FERRARA, fig. 4), and the tomb slab of Domenico Gazga-
nclli (Bologna, Pin. N.). Cossa may have been both a
painter and sculpror during his thort career, but without
secure knowiedge of what his sculptural style might have
been, any attnbutions should be accepted only tentatively,

On 29 November 1460 Cossa became an independent
master, He is recorded in Bologna, acting as godfather at
the baptism of Domenico Garganell's son Ludovico on
17 December 1462. Berween this date and 1469-70 Cossa’s
whereabouts are undocumented. He may have remained
in Bologna untl 1466-7, as he seems to have provided
cartoons for a series of stained-glass windows executed by
the brothers Jacopo Cabrini and Domenico Cabnn: for
the fagade of S Giovanni in Monte. One of the windows
from this complex (whose arrangement was recorded by
Marceflo Oretu in 1783 before it was dismanded) is signed
by the Cabrini brothers and dated 1467, Several of the
windows are $dll in § Giovanni in Monte {a Virgin and
Child Enthroned with Four Angels, 2 5t John the Evangelist
an Patmos and 2 panel depicting the coat of arms of the
patron Annibale Gozzadini), Other fragments exist in
Ferrara (Gal. Civ. A. Mod.) and in Costozza, Viterbo (Da
Schio priv. col.). Cermin compositional elements of the
stained-glass designs have prompted some critics to in-
clude them in a Jater phase of Cossa’s career, perhaps as
late as 1474 or 1475, suggesting that the complex of
windows could be the result of rwo separate decorative
campaigns, There are marked stylistic similarities, however,
berween the angels in the Vigin and Child window and
those found in a painting universally accepted as Cossa’s
catliest extant work, the Virgin and Child with Angels
(71460-65; Washington, DC, N.G.A.; sce fig. 1). Even if
dated as carly as 1467, the S Giovanni window designs
would be the work of an artist who had practised for at
least 11 years and therefore would say little about Cossa’s
training or early career.

In a letter of 25 March 1470 Cossa complained to Borso
d’Este, Duke of Modena {later Duke of Ferrara), that he
had been badly paid for the work he had recently com-
pleted in the Palazzo Schifanoia {ree FERRARA, §4(11) and

Cossa, Francesco del, §2: After 1470

1. Francesco del Cossa: Vigin and Child auth Amgels, tempen on
panel, 535x362 mm, 1146065 (Washington, DC, National Gallery
of Art)

fig. 3). Claiming to have worked on his own to complete
three panels on the wall next to the anteroom of the great
hall, he grumbled at being paid at the rate of a mere 10
bolognini per foor, the same rate as the ‘poorest apprentice
painter’ in Ferrara. The letter defines the three vertical
panels on the east wall of the Salone dei Mesi in the
Palarzo Schifanoia—the zodizcal months of Anes, Taurus
and Gemini—as by Cossa’s hand alone. Of his exeant
paintings, the Schifanoia frescoes are Cossa’s masterpiece
and the touchstone of his eady style. They reveal an
intriguing combinaton of a Pisanecllo-bke accuracy in
detadl, a luminosity of colour reminiscent of Piero della
Francesca and & prettiness in the fearures and bearing of
the figures, which relates most closely to contemporary
Florentne manuscript dlumination. Since Cossa demon-
strated such a uniformly high level of quality in invendoen,
design and execution in the Salone dei Mest, it can only
reflect badly on the sensibilities of the patron that Cossa’s
pleas for recognition went unheard. Disillusioned by the
Duke's response that he had beea paid what he deserved,
Cossa left Ferrara, never to return,

2. AFTER 1470, In 1472 Cossa received 100 ducats
from the Confratemity of the church of S Maria del
Baraccano, Bologna, for restoring and renovating its

925
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miraculous image, a fresco of the Vigin and Child,
atributed to Lippo di Dalmasio, usually dated before
1401, Cossa added two standing, candelabrum-beating
angels, an architectural framework through which 2 distant
landscape can be seen and the donor portraits of either
Bente or Giovanni I Bentivoghio and his wife (i sitx).
Lamo records two additional figures of S5 Cathetine and
Lucy (untraced). At the same time, or perhaps slighdy
carlier, Cossa was commissioned to paint an altarpiece for
the church of the Convent of the Osservanza, Bologna.
Longhi suggested that the Anrundation and its accompa
nying predella depicting the Nativity with Dancing Shep-
berds (Dresden, Gemildegal. Alte Meister) formed the
ceatral section of the Osservanza altarpiece. He further
proposed that §¢ Clare and St Catbering of Alexandria
(both Madsid, Mus. Thyssen-Bomemisza) might have
beea placed as pendants on the extreme outer edges of
the altar’s predella.

One of Cossa's major projects during 1473 was the
wiptych commissioned by Floriano Griffoni for his family
chapel in § Petronio, Bologna. On 19 July 1473 Agostine

2. Francesco del Cossa: Virgin awd Child waith S5 P

de” Marchi da Crema, an inzarsiators, was paid for the
frame of the elaborute altarpiece. Longhi’s reconstruction
of the altarpicce, based in part on suggestions first made
by Crowe and Cavalcaselle, has been confirmed by the
discovery of a drawing by the 18th-century Bolognese
painter Stefano Odandi (Benad, 1984 and 1985), who
recorded the shape of the frame and the distribution of
the panels. The central panel was §¢ Vimeewt Ferrer
(Loadon, N.G.), to the right 52 Jabn the Baptist and to the
left St Peter (both Milan, Brem) and above the central
panel the tondo of the Crgifision (Washingron, DC,
N.GA). Oslandi recorded two smaller pancls with
rounded tops, of §¢ Rosakia and St Pax, placed above the
panels of S Jobw the Bapiistand St Peter. Longhi sugpested
that the dhree-quarter-length S¢ Florian and 3¢ Lugy
(Washingron, DC, N.G.A.) belong to this section of the
polyptych. Above these half-length saints were two tondi
representing the Anumsnciation (Gazzada, Mus, Villa Ca-
gnola). The predells, compased of scenes from the life of
St Vincent Ferrer (Rome, Vatican, Pin.), is usvally attrils-
uted in part or in whole to ERCOLE DE' ROBERTL On 27

Jadm the £
Pinacoteca Nazionale)

wgedtst wnd & Douor, tempera on canvas, 227x2.66 m, 1474 (Bologna,
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F o ——




September 1473 Cossa was paid 2 lire 16 soldi for a
cartoon representing St Petxonius, to be executed by

de’ Marchi in intarsia for the choir-stalls of S
Petronio. The 5t Petromius, as well as a St _Awrbrose also
aributed to Cossa’s design, are still 7 sits.

In 1472 Cossa had been commissioned by the judge
Alberto de’ Cattani and the notary Antonio degli Amorini
to paint an zltarpiece for the Palazzo della Mercanzia in
the Foro dei Mescand, Bologna. The Virgin and Child
wirh 5§ memJobn the Evangelistand a
Pin. N.; see fig. 2) is signed and dated 1474, The painting
shows Cossa entering a new stwylistc phase in which the
colours are more sombre and the figures weightier. One
can only assume that his last wozk, for the Garganelli
Chapel in § Pietro, Bologna (destr. 1606), was of a similar
quality. Tamo described Cossa’s part in the decoration of
the Garganelli Chapel, stating that it comprised the Four
Evangelists and Four Doctors of the Chutch seated in the
cupola and sevesal prophets in the vault. Above the
entrance to the chapel was an Ansunciation painted half
life-size; all the other figures in the chapel were full scale.

In 3 document of 19 November 1476 Cossa’s address
was given in the Polirone di § Antonio quaster of Feetara,
although it was noted that the painter lived in Bologna,
His comparatively early death was presumably a result of
an outbreak of plague.
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2. Ferrara Cathadral, west fagade, tympanum and lintel of main poresl, 1155

Christ. Represented on the jambs are four prophets
holding scrolis and, at the wp, on cither side of the
doorway, the Annuncation. The inventive iconographic
programme of both portals also includes references to the
Crusades (the 5t Grorge and the crusader figures once on
the Porta dei Mesi) and to civil and legal concems (e.g,
the lions, atlantdds and knotted columns of the double-
storey porches, which have been associated with the
waditdon of the Throne of Solomon). The griffing and
other fantastic animals derived from Byzanune and Islamic
sources illustrate the wide range of visual models employed
for this work. The arcaded bell-towes, begun in the 15th
century, shows the style of Albert.
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CHRISTINE VERZAR

(#) Palazgzo Schifanoia. The palazzo, located in the south-
eastern section of Ferrara just within the Renaissance city
walls, owes its present shape to four sepasate building
campaigns undertaken by members of the Este famuly.
According to the Ferrarese chronicler Ugo Caleffini, the
palazzo first built by Alberto Vin 13835 was a small, single-
storey edifice. In 1391 Alberto enlarged the building to
twice its original length and by 2 third of its depth. He also
connected it internally to an adjoining building on the
eastern side, raised the main floor to 2ccommodate a
sunken cellar and added a large loggia to the back of the
palazzo at the western end. A general idea of the compo-
sition of the rooms is conveyed through an inventory of
the palazzo’s contents made in 1436. The rooms were
named after their decoraton: ‘deli alifant, dele donzeli et
cimeri, di san zorzo, dale pigne and dale rode’ (elephants,
maidens and crests, St George, pines and wheels). Borso
d'Este began extensive remodelling of the palazzo some
tme after 1465. The eardiest document is dated 28 February
1468, and building work appears to have been finished by
the ead of 1469. He added 2 piano nobile at the second-
storey level (above the former main floor), extended a
staircase from the garden to the new prane mobik, added
an elaborate marble doorframe to the main entrance and
repainted the decorative geometric frescoes on the fagade
of the building. Three of the rooms decorated for Borso
are still extant: the Sala degli Stemmi, the Sala degli Stucchi
and the Salone dei Mesi. In 1493 Ercole I enlarged the
pakazzo 1o the east and transfozmed its ‘medieval’ appear-
ance by replacing the merloned roofline with an oversized,
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Ferrara, §4(ii): Palazzo Schifanoia

3. Ferrana, Palazzo Schifanoia, Salone dei Mesi, Aries, Taurns, Gemini, frescoss oa the eastern wall by Francesca del Cossa, before 1470

classically inspired terracotta cornice. Unml the Jate 16th
century the Palazzo Schifanoia was used by the Este family
both as 2 subusban retreat and as 2 lodging house for
important visitors. In 1438, during the Council of Ferrara,
Demetrius (21460}, brother of Emperor John VII Palaio-
logos (rg 1425-48), was housed there; in 1468 three of
the Sforza brothers stayed there, and in 1471 the Venetian
ambassador and his family were placed there. In 1482,
however, Cardinal Francesco Gonzaga wrote 1o his came-
rario, Giovan Francesco Serats, saying that he prefesred
fot to be put up at the Schifanoia because it was 2 long
way from the cenure and stffy in winter. Tn 1538 the
palazzo became the residence of the retired Archbishop
of Ravenna, Cardinal Benedemo Accolti. Since the 18th
century it has served 2s a tobacco processing plant, a
5 granary, an zsylum for deaf-mutes and as a music school.
e It was given the status of civie museurn in 1897,

> The internal decoration of the Palazzo Schifanoia has
suffered gready through neglect, abuse and inexpert res-
torations carried out casly in the 19th century. The Sala
degli Stemmi contains remains of a series of frescoed
medallions with the Este coat of arms and the personal
imprese of Borso d’Este. Maost of the frescoes have
disappeared, but the massive and highly etaborate stucco
frieze (¢ 2.5 m high) containing six sculpted, polychrome,
nearly life-size, seated figures of the [irwes set within
shallow niches has survived. The decoration was begun
by Domesico di Pags and Bongiovanni di Geminiano
some tme after April 1467 and was finished before the
end of 1469. The room was apparently used as an avdience
chamber. Tt has been suggested that Borso d’Este, whea
seated on his throne in this room, would have been seen
a5 the embodiment of the missing virte of Justice.
The Salone dei Mesi, although severely damaged and
With little more than half of the frescoes surviving, is the

major monument of 15th-cenrary Ferrarese art. The room
measures 24x11x7,5 m, The walls are divided by painted
grsaille pilasters into eighteen sections, Six sectons are
frescoed with jousting scenes and cityscapes; the remaining
owelve are dedicated to the months of the year; hence the
name of the room, They run chronologically anti-clockwise
and are divided into three horizonmlly supedmposed
zones. The upper secton of each panel illustrates the
triumphal procession of the pagan god or goddess of the
month following the list provided by the ancient Roman
astrological poet Marcus Manihus (Astronamica, ii, 439-
47). The pictorial models for these gods were drawn
primarily from the text and illustrations of the late medieval
mythographic handbooks, The middle zone shows the
zodiacal sign of each month surrounded by three astrolog-
ical demi-gods, called decans afrer their funcdon of
dividing the 30" of each astrological month into three
segments of 10°. The representation of the decan-gods
were probably deawn from a contemporary manuscript
containing 2 severely edited version of the Latin translation
of Abu Mu'shar's Insroductoriune in astronomiars, made by
Hermannus Dalmata [Georgive Zotori Zapard Feaduli].
The lowest zone of the panels contains scenes of daily life
at the court of Borso d'Este.

‘Two contemporary documents menton the decoration
of the Salone dei Mesi: the first is a letter to Borso d'Este
from Francesco del Cossa dated 25 March 1470, in which
he identifies himself as the author of the three panels on
the castern wall (the zodiacal months of Aries, Taurus and
Gemini; see fig, 3); this also provides a ferminas ante guen:
for the saiore. The second s a payment for work done
before 16 Seprember 1473 to Baldassare d’Este for having
‘touched up’ 36 portrait busts of the Duke. The authorship
of the other frescoes in the salome has remained the subject
of fierce debare: proposed eandidates include Freole de’
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Robern, Antonio Cicognara, Cosimo Tura, Ettore d’An-
wonio de' Bonacossi (d1522), the Master of the Occhi
Spalancati, the Master of the Occhi Ammiccant, the
Master of Ercole and the mystedous Vicino da Ferrara.
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Ferrara, Jackie (4 Detroit, MI, 17 Nov 1929). American
sculptor and draughtswoman. She had no formal art
education but from an carly age enjoyed making useful
domestic furniture, such as shelves and cupboards. After
moving to live and work in New York in 1952, she became
involved in the ans in various ways, taking classes in
leatherwork and pottery and, through her job at the Henry
Street Settlement, coming into contact with dance and
theatre, In the 1960s she attended performances and
Happenings at the Judson Gallery and Judson Church and
herself pesformed in two of Claes Oldenburg’s Happen-
ings (1962 and 1965), which influenced her. At this time
she was making various sorts of sculpture. She began
making the work for which she became known in the
1970s. It typically comprises wooden pyramidal/ziggurat-

type constructions, made by stacking horizontally layered
steps, An eardy mature work is Hollow Core Pyramid
(plywood 0.61x0.61x0.61 m, 1974; Glen Ridge, NJ, Levy
priv. col.), for which the inspiradon was an unwrapped
mummy, which she found intensely ‘beandful, haundng
and evocatve'; she wanted her own work to have a similar
quality. Other earlyworks for which she is known include
Curved Pyranid (0.99%1.52x0.46 m) and Stacked Pyramid

(2.60x3.96x1.20 m; both treated fir, 1973; New Yok,

Michael Klein Inc.). Stacked Pyramid-was her first outdoor
work, Her many large-scale public works include Castle
Clinton: Tower and Bridge (cedar, 0.33%0.61x0.36 m, 1979;
New York, Battery Park) and Meeting Place (1989; Seatde,
WA, Convention and Trade Cent), 2 lobby area of

concrete and slate foor, with steps and platform, and
concrete and steel seating, All these works are character-
ized by Ferrara’s metculous ceaftsmanship and their
reference 1o generic types of non-Western building, such
as those of Mesoamerica and Egypt, and to geometric
form. Works by Ferrara are in the collections of the
County Museum of Art, Los Angeles, MOMA, New York,
and the Louisiana Museum, Humlebzk
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Ferrari, de’. Ttalian family of artists. (1) Gregorio de’
Ferrari and his father-in-law, Domenico Piola, were
responsible for decorating some of the largest and most
prestigious palaces and churches in Genoa in the 1670s
and 1680s—a successful partnership that continued with
their sons (2) Lorenzo de’ Ferrard and Paolo Gerolamo
Piola. Another of Gregorio’s sons, Giuseppe de’ Ferran
(d1768), was a restorer and also 2 painter, though less
renowned thaa his father and brother, A signed canvas by
him of the Vimgin and Child Adored by 55 Mauro and
Sebastian (Calizzano, S Mauro) is a pastiche of the sweet
putti and sfumato style of Gregotio and of the more
smoothly polished and academic figures of Lorenzo.

(1) Gregorio de’ Ferrari (& Porto Maurizio, Impera,
12 April 1647; @ Genoa, 26 Jan 1726). Painter. He came
to Genoa to study law but devoted his tme 2nd enetgy to
paintng. He studied with Domenico Fiasella from «. 1664~
9, and in this period he may have painted scenes in the
style of Giovanni Andrea de’ Ferrar, Fiasellaand Giovanai
Batdsta Casone, He assisted Fiasella on the altarpiece §¢
Clare Repuising the Saracens (1667; Montoggio, parish
church). Probably after the death of Fiasella in 1669,
Gregorio went to Parma, pethaps accompanied by Gio-
vanni Barttista Merano and Andrea Sighizzi (¢ 1684), from
whom he may have acquired his skill in guadratura design.
In Parma he abandoned the monumentality of Fiasella’s
art, and began to develop 2 softer, more lyrical manner.
He made an oil copy (Genos, Mus. Accad. Ligustica BAL)
of Correggio’s frescoes in the dome of Parma Cathedral.
Two paintings, the Rest on the Flight into Egypt and the
Virgin with St Jerome and the Magdalene (both untraced),
apparently copies after Correggio, ase mentioned by Rard
{see Soprani) as the property of Anton Raphael Mengs.
During his years in Parma, Gregorio may have exchanged
ideas with Giovanni Battista Gaulli, Merano and Giovanni
Andrea Carlone. The paintings executed after his return
(s 1671) to Genoa suggest the influence of these artists
and are distinguished by the graceful clongations and
wvertical spiral movement of the figures, which resemble
those sculpted by Filippo Parodi and Bernardo Schiaffino.
They became more undulating and more tightly modelled
by the end of the century. Two canvases inspited by
Correggio, St Francis Conforted by an Angel and Rest on
she Flight into Egypt (both Genoa, § Siro), are dated to
¢ 1674-5. Domenico Piola is said to have admired Gre-
gorio’s work so much that in 1674 he gave his daughter to
Gregorio for 2 wife. The marsiage a harmo-
nious working relationship, which contributed to the
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Giovanni (di Giuliano) da Oriolo (4 Orolo, nr Faenza;
dFaenza, before 24 Sept 1474). Talian painter. His oeuvre
is known
of Lionello d"Ests (London, N.G.). Stylistically similar to
Pisanello’s Portrait of Lionello &' Este (c. 1441, Bergamo,
Gal. Accad. Carrara), Giovaani’s painting probably dates
to the same period or slightly later. There is 2 payment to
Magistzo Johanni de Faventia’ daced 21 June 1447, which
may refer to the portrait. He returned to Faenza in 1449
and soon after was commissioned to paint portraits of
Astorgio II Manfredi's two daughters, Elisabetta and
Barbara (untraced). He is recorded 25 court painter in
Facnza and is described as ‘pictor publicus’ and ‘magister’
in 1461. In 1452 Marcius’ is given 2s his second name;
later the family name Savoretts appears. He is said to be
dead in a document of 24 September 1474. Giovanai di
Giulizno da Oriolo should not be confused with his
compattiot Giovanni (di Andrea) da Riolo {#1433), nor
with Giovanni Pietro da Oriolo, who painted in Asolo.
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Giovanni (di Pictro) da Pisa (i) (#1401-23). Iralian
painter. He is first documented in 1401 in Genoa, where
he became Deputy of the Painters’ Guild in 1415, Two
signed works by him are extant: a triptych depicting the
Virgin and Child with S5 John the Baptist and Anthony
Abbor {(1423; San Simeon, CA, Hearst Found.) and a
polyptych depicting the Virgin and Child with Four Saints
(Barcelona, Mus. A, Catalunya). Whereas the former
shows close contacts with the art of the many Pisan
paintess {e.g. Turino di Vanni) present in Genoa between
1410 and 1420, the latter shows a stronger influence of
Taddeo di Bartolo, active in Liguda berween 1393 and
1398, and is probably therefore the cardier work, Close o
the Barcelona Virgin and Child, but considered slightly
carlier, is 2 polyptych partially reconstructed by i
from dispersed pancls (e.g. Genoa, S Fede; Pavia, Pin.
Malaspina). Giovanni's first known work has been identi-
fied as the polyptych fragment depicting Fowr Saints
(Portotia, nr Genoa, convent of the Annunziata), where
the Pisan influences of his formative years blend with
Ligurian elements derived from Barnaba da Modena and
Taddeo. Algeri proposed the attribution to Giovanni of
the polyptych depicting 5 Lawrence with' Four Saints
(Moneglia, S. Giorgio) because of its similarities with the
Porroria panel.
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through one painting, the signed profile porerait

Giovanni da Rimini

G. Algedi: ‘Nuove propasts per Giovanai da Pisa’, Bl A, xlvii {1988),
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PR VITTORIO NATALE

Giovanni da Pisa (ii) [Giovanai di Francesco) { f1444;
d PVenice, ¢ 1460). Italian sculptor. In a document of
February 1447 he is named as 2 member of Donatello’s
Paduan workshop, where he apparendy worked between
1444 and 1449, eagaged on the high altar in 1l Santo
together with Donatello’s other assistancs, Niccold Piz-
zolo, Usbano da Cortona, Antonio Chellini (M 1446; 4
after 1464) and Francesco del Valente ( £ 1447). Though
his role is not specified, Giovanni probably assisted in the
modelling and casting of the bronzes and later may also
have assisted on Donatello’s pulpits in S Lorenzo, Flot-
ence. On 8 July 1447 Giovanai was paid for work on the
terracotta altar in the Ovetari Chapel of the church of the
Eremitani, Padua. Although Michiel attributed the altar-
piece to Giovanni, the design and execution are evidendy
the work of Pizzolo, from whom the altarpiece was
commissioned, and Giovanni’s role was minor, Puppi
suggested that he made a small-scale model of the altar-
piece. Also actributed to Giovanni, probably erroneously,
ate three reliefs of the Virgin and Child (Padua, Eremitani,
Ovwetari Chapel, included in terracotta altar; Padua, S
Giustuna; Venice, S Maria Mater Domuini}, all of which are
indebted to Donatello.
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Giovanni d’Arbosio. See JEAN D'ARBOLS.

Giovanni da Rimini ( /1292-1336). Italian painter. Legal
documents meation 2 Giovanni ‘painter’, then ‘master’,
living in Rimini between 1292 and 1336, Ie is likely that
they refer to the artist identified on the basis of the Cruafix
(3.0x2.3 m; Mezcatello, S Francesco), inscrbed JOHES
PICTOR FECIT HOC OPUS/FR. TOBALDI and dated 1309 or
1314 (Volpe); the earlier date is largely acceped today.
Like most 14th-century Riminese crosses, including
three others attributed to the same artist, the Mercatello
Crudfix is derived from that attributed to Gioto in S
Francesco, Rimini. Nevertheless, the more elongated pro-
portions, the more schematic anatomical description of
the Mercatello Christ and the slightly archaic decorative
background betray Giovanni's 13th-century roots. His
style is still characterized by the aristocratic aloofness and
rich chromatic range of the Ttalo-Byzantine tradition.
‘Two small paintngs are generally accepted as Giovan-
ni’s earliest work. The Virgin and Child with Five Saints
(Faenza, Pin. Com.) is probably the surviving half of a
diptych; the simple, two-tier structure, present in many
provindal productions, and the evenly spaced, remote
figures of the lower register emphasize the close embrace
of Virgin and Child above. The Child presses his upturned
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Guarino, Francesco

(Sant’Agara Irpina, patish church) showing her ortured,
one with burning coals and the other by having her breasts
cut off, are from the same period; the figure types and the
compositon of the second seem to be directly inspired by
Velizquez's Bacchus and bis Conpanions (¢, 1628; Madrid,
Prado). In his later paintings of St Agatha (Moscow,
Pushkin Mus, F.A,; « 1637, Naples, Capodimonte; see
fig.) Guarino explored the type of female half-length study
introduced by Simon Vouet and Massimo Stanzione,
focusing on the refined sensuality of the subject, whom
he portrayed with one shoulder bare, languidly holding a
blood-stained cloth to her muslated breasts.

Later Guarino, in such works as the fmmaculate Concep-
#ion (1637; Solofra, S Michele) and the elegant Awmmuncia-
sion (1642; Solofra, § Michele), developed, like many
Neapolitzn painters of the 1630s, a brighter, warmer
palette, indebted to Venctian colour. He also painted small
pictures, such as the nine scenes from the Life of St
Anthony Abbot (1642; Campobasso, Sant’ Antonio Abate).
The altarpiece in this church, the Miradk of St Benedict,
with, above it, the Piezd (1643) and the pair of picrures
Esau Seliing bis Birthright and Isaar Blessing Jacok (1640~
42; Pommersfelden, Schloss Weissenstein), bear a com-
plex relationship o Stanzione and Ribera. The two stories
of Jacob, with three-quarter-length figures, unite a pow-
erful naturalism with & new formal clanty. The paindngs
are richly decorative and sumptuous fabrics are rendered
in brilliant blues, bright reds and yellows,

The increasing influence on Guarno of the more
clegant, academic style of Stanzione is apparent in the two
versions of the Madonna of the Rasary (1644, tetouched
by the armist in 1649, Solofra, S Domenico; and 1645,

Francesco Guatino: St Agethe, oll on canvag, 870x715 mm, « 1637
(Naples, Museo e Gallesie Nazsonali di Capodimonte)

Nocera Inferiore, S Mana di Marerdomini) and in the
Madonna del Suffragio (¢. 1649; Gravina di Puglia, Chicsa
del Suffragio). The more classical style of his Jast works
for S Michele at Solofra, the Baptisny, the Assmmption and

Christ among the Angels, show the increasing influence of

Poussin, Domenichino and Francesco Cozza. Guarino's

most important patzons were the Orsini family of Gravina

and Solofra, and many of his paintings remain in their

Neapalitan palace. He died at their cour, involved, ac-

cording to de Dominici, in a crime of passion.
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Guarino da Verona {# Verona, 1374; d Ferrarz, 4 Dec
1460). Irzban humanist and educator. He was onc of the
great humanist teachers of the 15th century. Having
studied in Verona, Padua and Veaice, Guarino was among
the first Italian scholdss to visit Constangnople, where he
studied Greek from 1403 1o 1408, living part of the ome
in the houschold of the neo-Platonic philosopher Manuel
Chrysoloras (1350-1415). Laden with Greek manuscopts,
Guarino reamed to Ttaly via Rhodes and Chios in 1409,
stayed in Venice for a short period, moved to Verona
(1409-10) and finally sextled in Florence, where he was
employed 25 a Greek wtor (1410-14), Between 1414 and
1419 he was teaching in Venice and in 1419 he opened 2
private school in Verona. In 1429 Guarino was summoned
to Ferrara by Niceold ITT d’Este as tutor for his son
Leonello. He remained there until his death,

Guarino was the author of numerous translations {rom
the Greek, commentasies on hoth Greek and Latn authors
and the biographies of Homer and Plato. His Ladn
translaton of Lucian's Calummy, with its ckphrasis of
Apelles” painting of the subject, served as the model for
Alberti’s account in [¢ picsura (1435). He also wrote a
very influental Latin grammar, the Regulas Lrammaticac.
Under Guarino’s acgis, Ferrara became an active centre
for humarust study and learning. Pope Pius 1T descobed
him as *.. the teacher of almost all who have attained
distincuon in the humanities in our day’.

There are two slightly varying accounts of Guarino’s
response to the visual arts. The persona given Guarino in
his pupil Angelo Decembrio’s De palitia litteraria, much
of which is corroborated by opinions set forth by Guarine
himself in his correspondence, shows him to be dismissive

m
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Pannemaker, de
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Pannonio [Ongaro; Ungaro), Michele (& ?Hungary,
¢ 1400; 4 Ferrara, before 28 July 1464), Painter, active in
Italy. He was one of the most important painters at the
court of Ferrara in the mid-15th century and contributed
to the creation of an indigenous Ferrarese style of painting,
Most of his works have been destroyed. ‘He may have
been born in Hungary, as his name implics. There are
parallels between his style and that of contemporary
painters working in Hungary, but nothing is known of his
early cazeer. The suggestion that he can be idendified with
a Michele dai Unii, paid in 1415 for painting a standard
for Leonello d'Este, seems untenable, but the Michel da
Ungaria, recorded as one of Genle da Fabnano's assis-
tants working in the Strozzi Chapel in the sacristy of Sanea
Trinita, Florence, in 1423, may be the same arist

Pannonio appears in the Este court records continu-
ously from 1427 to 1464. He may have been court painter
to the Este between 1456 {the death of Angelo Macagnino
da Siena) and the elevation of Cosimo Tusa to that position
in 1460. In 1450 he decorated the vault (destr.) of the
sacristy of Ferrara Cathedral. He also painted art least one
canvas, the muse 7halia (Budapest, Mus. F.A.), for Lio-
nello d'Este’s siwdiols at Belfiore, probably between 1457
and 1459, He appears 1o have been responsible for the
decoraton (destr.) of Borso d’Este’s newly buile Certosa
in Ferrara between 1460 and 1464. According to Tietze-
Conrat, Marchese Ludovico Gonzaga considered employ-
ing Pannonio as the Mantuan court artist in the late 1450s,
when Andrea Mantepna was prevaricating.

Other works atributable to Pannonio mclude St Lowis
of Toulouse and St Bermard (both Ferrara, Pin. N.), their
probable companion piece St Antbony of Padua (ex-priv.
col, Milan, see Boskovits, 1978), and S¢ George and #be
Dragon (Manor House, Mells, Somerset).
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Panofsky, Erwin (# Hannover, 30 March 1892; 4 Prince-
ton, NJ, 14 March 1968). German art historian, active in
the USA. He wrote primarily on late medieval and Renais-
sance art in northern Burope and Italy, mosdy, but by no
means exclusively, on painting,

1. Work in Germany. 2. Work in the USA

1. WORK IN GERMANY. Panofsky’s doctoral disserta-
tion (1915) was on the relation of Direr’s theory of art to
that in Renaissance Italy; in 1923 he and Frtz Saxl
published 2 study of Diiret’s engraving Mekencolia 1. In
1926 he became the first professor of art history ar the
new university of Hamburg, where he was closely involved
with Eenst Cassirer (1874-1945), the professor of philos-
ophy, and with Saxl and Aby Warburg at the Bibliothek
Warburg. Panofsky’s name is often narrowly associated
with the search for the subject-marter of paindings through
reference to traditonal imagery and literature. However,
his writing always involved a much more ambitious and
coherent mode of eritical interpretation: he sought consis-
tently to place individual works of art in relation to what
he took to be an underlying aspect of the human situation,
the reciprocity beeween ‘objectivity’—our receptive rela-
ton to the external world—and ‘subjectivity’—the con- -
structive acuvity of our thought.

Panofsky’s sense of this reciprocity was developed out
of two different theories: following Alois Riegl he con-
ceived objectivity as what was outside the mind, object-
bood, and subjectivity as the mind’s projective or
constructive activity; but he also took note of 2 model
from Emst Cassirer, according to which objectivity was a
matter of the mind’s raticnal, constructive activity in
contrast to the subjectivity of sensaton. Two early papers,
‘Der Begrff des Kunstwollens’ (1920) and ‘Uber das
Verhiltnis der Kunstgeschichte zur Kunsttheorie® (1925)
outline Panofsky’s theoretical position, an ideal to which
interpretation might aspire rather thaa one it might fully
implement, but one that informs all his major historical
works, It applied in two impostant papers of the 1920s.

In the first, ‘Die Entwicklung der Proportionslehre als
Abbild der Stilentwicklung’ (1921), he distinguished be-
tween systems of proportion concerned with the interre-
lation of parts of the body—‘anthropometry’—and theosies
that were ‘technical’, concerned with how these were
represented. In the case of Ancient Egyptian art the
relative proportions of patts of the body coincided with a
grid system, so that the two systems of proportion
coincided. In Classical art the viewpoint of the spectator
is included and interplays with the system of proportons
of the body, but only in the Renaissance are adjustments
for the spectator systematized, with the introduction of |
perspectival construction. Objective proportionality and
subjective proportionality are now brought into 2 concep-
tualized relation. Panofsky held that theories of proportion
were too elaborate to be comprehensively applied to the
complexity of actual works of art, but that at any penod
the conceptual stance implied by the theory of proportions



hrace Vemet, who recommended he study under
I ouis Girodet. He spent four years with Girodet
£ studying briefly with Antoine-Jean Gros. He then
Jed around Europe, especially Italy and Holland, for
sam, initially working as drawing-master to an
ih family. He returned in 1824 to Pars where he
this début at the Salon, Though he had admired the
issance and Classical art he had seen abroad and
! quite broke free from its influence, he nevertheless
oped a predominantly Romantic style which matured
g the 1830s to produce such works as Trwmphal
1 of Clovis at Tours in 508 (1837; Versailles, Chiteau),
55t of Joseph-Nicolas Robert-Fleury’s wotks depict
'dramatic historical subjects as trials and assassina-
Tpaintﬂd in high focus with a wealth of period detail
[Galileo before the Inquisition, 1632; 1847, Paris,
tc). He also painted some biblical scenes and a
ser of works based on the lives of great painters of
ast (e.g. Death of Titian, 1861; Antwerp, Kon. Mus.
st). In 1863 he painted four large canvases on
rical themes for the Salle d’Audience of the Tribunal
smmerce in Pards and was appointed Director of the
: des Beaux-Arts. However, the following year he
ned the post in order to become Director of the
émie de France in Rome. In 1846 he was awarded
“gion d’'Honneur, and in 1850 he was elected 2
ber of the Académice des Beanx-Arns. Robest-Fleury
nued to exhibit at the Salon until 18677
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te, an orderly composition and a general respect for
lassical tradition. He specialized in history and genre

(=N
is work can be divided into three main periods, The
is characterized by his interest in the picturesque.
iwe making his débur at the Sazlon of 1864 he had
»d Rome and was attracted by the manners and people
sund there, His first submissions to the Salon were of
Italian subjects: Young Roman Girl (Bayonne, Mus.
nat) and Child Embracing a Relic. However, his most
mplished work in this field appeared later (e.g. the
Women of the Piagzn Navona at Santa-Maria della
» exh. Salon 1867; ex.-Mus. du Luxembourg, Pasis). It
vs Robert-Fleury's ability to convey his vision while
tately observing both the local types and light, Nev-
tless, the generalized treatment of the heads deprives
figures of character and betrays the coldness and
wality of his academic, Neo-classical training.
he second period of Robert-Fleury’s work is charac-
#d by the production of large historical compositions
trating events from both ancient and contemporary
>ry. The best works are the three paintings that made
‘amous. The firstis Warsaw, 8 Apri! 1861 (exh. Salon
3), which depicts the massacre by Russian troops of

Robert, Ercole de’, §1: Early work, 1473-82

4000 Poles, among them many civilians and clerics, in a

square in Warsaw during the Polish insurrection of 1861,

an incident Robert-Fleury had read about in the newspaper
Moniteur. This distinctly Romantic subject allowed him to

experiment, very successfully, with the representation of
intense emotion and drama. He placed the crowd of Polish

insurgents in the middle of the composition in a pyramidal

arrangement that culminated in the processional cross

held by two Catholic monks. The second great historical

painting 2lso depicts a dramatic moment: the Las? Day of
Corinth (1870; Paris, Mus. d'Ossay), 2 work that won him

the medal of honour at the 1870 Salon. The subject was

taken from Livy’s account of the Roman occupation of
Corinth, showing Robert-Fleury's knowledge of Classical

literature, In fact, both the subject and style show his

continuing commitment to Davidian Neo-classicism, as

revealed by his laborious concern with ideal beauty, evident
in the studied attitudes of his female figures who glide
around a statue of Minerva in the foreground, and also by
the classic inclusion of a chariot yoked to a pair of
stationary oxen, all as if Delacroix’s massacres and wild
horses had never existed. However, there are concessions
to the Romantic movement in the richly coloured carpets,
the golden vessels and the realism of the decp blue
Mediterranean sky and sea. The third major painting of
this period was Pinel Frees the Insane from thesr Chains
(1876; Paris, Hop. Salpétrigre). In the third and last pesiod
of his work Robernt-Fleury changed both his subject-matter
and style. He turned to genre painting, taking his subjects
from modern life (e.g. Anxiety, exh. Salon 1904; ex-Mus.
du Luxembousg, Paris) and also from the more private
moments of the main characters of the French Revolution
(eg. Charlorte Corday af Caen, 1874; Bayonne, Mus.
Bonnat). Much influenced by realism and Impressionism,
he treated these with lighter, cooler and more harmonious
tones than before. He also painted mural decorations for
the Palais du Luxemboutg and the Horel de Ville in Pads.

BIBLIOGRAPHY
Bénézie; Thieme-Becker
R. Menard: ‘Salon de 1870, Gag. B-4,, n. & 1,18 (1870), pp. 494-6, 498

C. Blanc: Les Artister de mon temps (Panis, 1876), p. 474
C. Saunier: Tony Robert-Fleury’, Les <rty, cxxiis (1912), pp. 25-32

ATHENA S, E. LEOUSSI

Roberti, Ercole (d’Antonio) de’ [Grandi, Ercole (di
Giulio Cesare) de’] (# Ferraea, «. 1455-6; 4 18 May-1 July
1496). Tralian painter and draughtsman. He was, together
with Cosimo Tura and Francesco del Cossa, one of the
most important painters working in Ferrara and Bologna
in the 15th cenwry. Although many of his works have
been destroyed, those that survive show that he raised the
depiction of human emotion and narrative drama to
remarkable heights. From 1486 he worked as court painter
to Ercole I d'Este (i), Duke of Ferrara.

1, Early work, 1473-82. 2. Bologna, 1482-6. 3. Ferrara, 1486-96.

1. EARLY WORK, 1473-82. He appears in documents
both as Ercole di Giulio Cesare de’ Grandi and Ezcole
d’Antonio de’ Robert. This has prompted some cridcs to
suggest there were two near-contemporary painters work-
ing in Ferrara whose Christian name was Ercole, The elder
of these, usually designated ‘de Robert’, was thought to
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Roberti, Ercole de’, §1: Early work, 1473-82

paint in a style close to that of Cosimo Tura, while the
younget, ‘Grandi’, painted mare like the marure Lorenzo
Costa. However, a notasial act of 1530 naming ‘Hietonimo,
son of the deceased Master Ercole de Robetti, alias de
Grandis, a painter and a citizen of Ferrara’ makes it clear
that the two names refer to one artist. Robert's father,
Antonio, is tecorded as a doorkeeper at the Este castle in
Ferrara.

Roberti's bisthdate has been set before 1456, on the
basis of a letter he wrote to Ercole I d’Este, Duke of
Ferrara, on 19 March 1491, in which he described himself
as having passed the middle years of his life. Vasari’s
comment that Roberti lived to the age of 40 seems to
confirm this.

The identification of Ercole’s first work remains con-
troveesial In 1473 he was working in Bologna in Francesco
del Cossa'’s workshop, but the extent of his eadier teaining
in Ferrara is unclear. Longhi (1934) atributed ro Robert
a large section of the frescoes in the Salone dei Mesi in
the Pal22zo Schifanoia, Ferrara (ree FERRARA, §4(ii)). He
isolated the Trimmpb of Licesry (or the Triumph of Viican)

in the upper register of the Libra sccton as particulardy *

indicative of the ‘personal cubism’ of the young artist,
Loaghi’s suggestions have been generally accepted. Bar-
gellesi (1945), developing his own previous attribution o
Roberti of the section of the St George’s Day horse race
in the lower part of the Taurus section, also atributed
several sections of the north wall (the lower part of Leo,
middle and lower zone of Virgo and all of Libm) to the
same hand. Cossa’s complaint that he had been forced to
work alongside appreatice painters while painting in the
salone supports the idea that Robert, as one of these
apprentices, could conceivably have been responsible for
large sections of the decoration. This may explain how the
two painters might have met, and the circumstances under
which Roberd might have left Ferrara, Againse these
arguments, however, it is difficult to imagine how Roberti
could be the zuthor of the sections of the Salone dei Mesi
most often awsibuted to him, which seem so heavily
influenced by Tura, when his first certain works show linde
indication of this influence but instead seem almost wholly

dependent on the art of his master, Francesco del Cossa,
It has been suggested that what Longhi cited as the visual
‘madness’ of the Libra panel may result from the calenlated
and mannered effects of 2 mature painter rather than from
the cffusions of a dynamic youth. The possibility that
Ercole painted in the Salone dei Mesi should not be
dismissed, but perhaps should be treated more tentatively.

Roberd's first secure warks are the predella and saints
on the lateral pilasters painted for the altarpiece (1473)
commissioned from FRANCESCO DEL Cosga for the Grif-
foni Chapel in S Petronio, Bologna, The predella depicrs
scenes from the Life of S¢ Vimoent Ferrer (Rome, Pin.
Varticana; see fig, 1) and relates to Cossa’s central panel of
St Vincent (London, N.G.). A number of small oil panels
depicting standing saints ate wsually identified with the
Griffoni altaspicce: St Michaeland St Apolionia(both Pasis,
Louvre), St Authony Abbot (Rouerdam, Boymans-van
Beuningen), 5t Petronius (Ferrara, Pin. N.) and S George,
3t Jerome and St Catberine of Alexcandria (all Venice, Col.
Cini). Estimates of the degree of Ercale’s participation in
these works vary from the claim thae he filled in only
minor details according to a plan and composition that
were essentially Cossa’s, to the assertion that Roberti was
fully responsible for the invention and execution of the
predella and of several of the saints, As a member of a
workshop, Roberti would naturally be expected to adhere
to its stylistic vocabulary, Nevertheless, the compositions
of both the individual figures and the predella betray a
certain grandeur of vision unlike anything in Cossa's extant
ocuvre. Vasari's claim that Roberti surpassed the work of
his master in this predella seems to be bome out. Other
works that can be dated to this period are the pendant
porteaits of Gioranni I Bentivogiio and his wife, Ginerra
Bentisaglio (Washingron, DC, N.G.A.), 5t John the Baptist
(Berlin, Gemildegal.), §¢ ferame (London, Barlow priv.
col.) and the alarpiece for the Lateran canons of S Lazzaro
in Borgo delle Pioppe, near Ferrara (Berlin, Kaiser-
Friedrich Mus,, destr.). Some scholars have suggested that
the S Lazzaco altarpiece was a collaboracive work, peshaps
begun by Cossa and finished in Ferrara by Roberti after
Cossa's death in 1478,

1. Ercole de” Roberti: demil from the predella of the Griffoai Altarpiece showing scenes from the Life of St Vincant Ferrer, oil on paacl,
270x2140 mm, 1473 (Rome, Pinacotsca Vaticana)
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Eligabeth and Axgustine and the Biessed Pieiro dogli Owesti {the ‘Pals
Portwensd ), ol 0n canvas, 3.23%2.40 m, « 1480 (Mihan, Pinacoteca di
Brerz)

On 5 February 1479 Robest entered into a contract
between himself, his brother Polidoro (a woodworker)
and the goldsmith Giovanni di Giuliano da Piacenza. The
goldsmith was obliged to make gold and silver leaf for the
brothers, and in return they agreed to provide him with
tools, half the shop and a share in the profits. The
document implies that Ercole inteaded to remain in
Ferrara, but this did not happen. By the end of 1480,
perhaps after a trip to Venice, he was probably in Ravenna,
painting an altarpiece for S Mara in Porto Fuori. The
painting, a Virgin and Child Entbroned with 55 Anne,
Elizaberh and Augustine and the Blessed Pietry degli Onwest,
commonly known as the ‘Pala Portuensé (Milan, Brera;
see fig. 2), is the masterpicce of Ercole’s early career and
his only extant documented work. On 26 March and 7
May 1481 Ezcole received payments for the altarpicce 20d
Bernardinoe da Venezia was paid for work on its frame.
Between these dates, Ercole appareatly returned o Ferrara
via Bologna so that the final payment for the alwarpiece
had to be sent to him in Ferrara. The composition of the
‘Pala Portnens? is heavily dependent on the S Lazzaro
altarpiece, but much of the decorative fussiness found in
the latter painting’s architecture and costumes has been
simplified. In addition, the figures seem more substantial,
and the ‘Pala Portuensé composition is permeated with a
classical calm reminiscent of the contemporary work of
Giovanni Bellini.

Roberti, Ercole de’, §2: Bologna, 1482-6

2. BoLoGNa, 1482-6, In 1482 Roberti returned to
Bologna, where he stood as godfather at the bapdsm of
Bartolomeo Garganelli’s son Giovanai Battista. Between
this time and 1486, Escole was involved in the completion
of the decotation of the Garganelli Chapel in S Pietro,

4, a commission left unfinished by Cossa at his
death. The church was demolished in 1605-6, and only a
few fresco fragments in 2 poor state survive (Bologna,
Pin.N.). However, itis possible to reconstruct the original
decoradon of the chapel from copies, deawings and
descriptions,

On the right wall of the chapel was a large fresco of the
Crucifixcion (destr.). An autograph pen drawing of the
figuzes at the foor of the cross (Berlin, Kupferstichkab.)
is an early compositional plan for this picture, A drawing
of St Longinus and a Young Page (Munich, Staatl, Graph.
Samml.) probably records the area to the lower left of the
central crucifix. The only extznt autograph fragment, the
head of the Wegning Magdalene (Bologna, Pin. N.; see fig.

- 3), belonged o the lower section of the Crusifiocion. It is

possible that the panel of a Mowrming Woman (Baltimore,
MD, Walters A.G.) may also be connected with this
section of the fresco. The scene of the Death of the Virgin
on the left wall of the chapel can be reconstmcted from
two early partial copies; a canvas showing Four Standing
Men (Paris, Louvre) records the lower left half of the wall,
while the Drath of the Virgin {Sarasota, FL, Ringling Mus.
A.} shows the right. Traditionally, the figure standing at
the extreme left of the Louvre picture has been identified
as 3 portrait of Ercole’s patron, Bastelomeo Garganelli,
while the young man standing to Garganell’s night is
believed to be a self-portraic of the artdst. The juxtaposition
between the highly charged, emotonally turbulent Cra-
Sixdon and the refined, elegantly restrained pathos of the
Dsath of the Virgin must have been striking, In scale and
power the Garganelli Chapel decoration was totally unlike
any contempotary north Italian painting, its monumental
hgures knitted together with a compositional density
paralleled only by works of the High Renaissance in Rome.
Indeed, Michelangelo found Roberd's paintings almost
Roman in their charactes and quality (Lamo, 1560),

~

3., Ercole de’ Robezti: Wagning Magdalene, fresco fragment transferred
to panel, 230=280 mm ¢ 1482-6 (Bolognz, Pinacoteca Nazionale)
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Roberd, Ercole de’, §2: Bologna, 1482-6

Three panels that orginally formed the predella to the
high altar of § Giovanni in Monte, Balogna, probably date
from the eacly 1480s. The A gony in the Garden and Bstrayal
of Christand the Raad to Calvary (both Dresden, Genil-
degal) flanked the Preta (Livespool, Walker A.G.; see
fig. 4). Several 2utograph drawings exist for this compo-
sition (2.g. Flotence, Uffizi, 1444E, 1444F; London, BM,
542). Some scholars have seea the London drawing as a
variant on the Liverpool Pied, but the majority of those
who have accepted this drawing as autograph have as-
signed it o an earlier date.

Other paintings probably dating from Roberti's second
Baolognese period ate the Vendeghini Vigin and Child
(Ferrara, Pin. N.), the Vigen and Child (Bezlin, Gemil-
degal.), the Lasz Supper and the Irrashites Gatbering Manna
(both London, N.G.) and Melhiredek Blessing Abrabam
(untraced; these may have originally been part of the same
predella), the Virgin and Child (Chicago, IL, A. Inst,), and
the Adoration of the Shepberds and Pista with St ferome
(both London, N.G.). During this period Ezcole seems to
have made an intensive stedy of the are of Andrea
Mantegna. Certain figures in the Garganelli Chapel, in 2

4. Ercole de” Robern: Pletg, ofl oa canvas, 760x490 mm, ¢ 1482-6 (Liverpool, Walker Art Gallery)

PR SINVET NS

=

RETRUNEIE R N

ol e | N TR




]
'

SR T TR

Battls Scens (Venice, Correr) and in a numbes of drawings
attributed to Roberti (e.g. Windsor Castle, Royal Lib,,
12795; Rotterdam, Boymans-van Beuningen, 574) seem
derived from prings and drawings by Mantegna,

3. FERRARA, 1486-96. By 6 March 1486 Roberd had
retumned to Ferrara. On 21 August and 20 Octobet he was
paid for the cost of gold and colours for a small pancl
(tasvletta) for Eleanora of Aragon, Duchess of Ferrara,
and received the gift of a length of black damask. In 1487
Excole is listed on the court payroll at a salary of 240 lire
a year (a substantial amount equalling that paid w the
ducal estate manages). On 28 May 1487 Ercole was paid
for the gold for, and the painting of, a picture for Ippolitc
1 d'Este (3}, Archbishop of Esztergom, who was about 10
setout on a journey to Hungary, Rafacle Maffei d2 Volterra
(il Volterrano) stated that Ercole accompanied Ippolito
on his tip. Scholars have noted certain elements detived
from Roberti in contemporazy Hungacan manuscript
illuminations and have suggested that perhaps he had been
summoned by Matthias Corvinus, King of Hungary, on
teceiving the portrait of Ippolito d’Este. If Roberu did
travel to Hungary, he had returned to Ferrara by 27 June
1488, when he is recorded as receiving a pift of some sadn.

Tn 1489 Roberd was paintng in a small room (cemering)
used by Alfonso I d’Este (i) in the garden of his mother,
the Duchess Eleanora. In the same year Eleanora sent
Roberd to Venice to buy gold to gild coffers ( forgien) for
the troussean of her daughter Isabella d"Este (i). A payment
of 20 March 1490 lists some of the items Ercole con-
straceed for the wedding festivities, including 13 coffess,
the nuptial bed and the wriumphal chariotoa which Isabella
entered Mantua for her marriage to Francesco Gonzaga.
Roberti accompanied Isabella to Manta as manager of
her wardrobe, but a letter dated 12 March 1490, in which
Ercole begged for?vencss from the Duchess, states that
he fled the city a few days after arrving and returned to
Ferrara without permission, In a letter of 19 March 1491
to Ercole 1 d'Este, Roberti complained that he had yet o
be fully paid for his labour and expenses, On 30 December
1491 he received 50 gold leaves from the Duchess to gild
an image of the Virgin painted on a pilaster near the tax
office in the Piazza del Duomo in Ferrara.

Berween March and August 1492 Roberu directed work
on the decoration of the buildings in the Duchess’s garden.
His part in this seems to have been confined to the ozatory
and three small rooms neae hee private loggh. He also
gilded and painted devices on some rose windows. Later
in the year he was paid for six trumpet banners made for
Alfonso d'Este. Presumably these banners were carried by
Alionso’s entourage on the journey he made in 1492 o
Rome o pay homage to Pope Alexander VI Ercole
accompanied Alfonso on the uip o Rome, stopping in
Flotence on his remrm,

Back in Ferrara, Roberti continued to supervise and
paint in Eleanora’s garden. It is possible that three panels
attributed 1o him, the Brutus and Portia (Fort Worth, TX,
Kimbell A, Mus.), the Wit of Flasdmbal (Washington,
DC, N.G.A.) and the Dearh of Luerstia (Modena, Gal. &
Mus, Estense), apparently from a series of paintings of
Virtsons Wanren, may have been part of this decoraton,
In 1493 Roberd also began a series of painangs for Ercole

Roberti, Excole de’, §3: Ferrara, 1486-96
I d'Este ar Belrguardo (buildings and decoration destr.).
In 3 letter dated 13 February 1493 Sivesio Siver, the ducal
secretaty, complained zbout the extent to which the Duke
had abandoned his usual pastimes, hunting and playing
chess, in order to discuss the projects with Robert. Siverd
described Roberti preparing large drawings, having been

in the most illustrious Duke’s own room from mormng ull
night for the past four days, seated on the far side of the
Duke's desk, while the Duke is scated on the nner side,
which he aever leaves. . . . For two or thres houss every night
he [the Duke] has been reading 2 section fom 4 book in
Tualian called Josephus, which i and scogies

from the Old Testament.

The letter testifies to an unexpected level of collaboration
between patron and artist, Giovanai Sabadine degli Ag-
ent, in his De frinmpbis refigonis (see Gundersheimer,
1972), recorded an claborate cycle based on the story of
Cupid and Psyche made for one of the Este residences,
which he attributed to an “excellent Ferrarese painter’. This
may have beea Ercole. Itis also possible that the series of
paintings depicting scenes of Jawon and the Argonautt
(Padua, Mus. Civ.; Florence, Rucellai priv. col.; Lugano,
Col. Thyssen-Bomemisza) was painted for Belriguardo,

In April 1494 Roberd paid a number of artists for
painting devices for Cardinal Ippolito d'Este. In May he
was commissioned by Isabella d'Esee to paint a portrit of
her father, Ercole 1 d’Este. In a letter dated 28 May 1494
Bernardo Prosperi explained o Tsabella that Robert was
unable to devote himself to painting the porcrait because
Alfonso d'Este was keeping him busy with other work,
One document may suggest that these tasks included
salami-making. The portrait (untraced) was begun but was
left unfinished at Robert’s death and was sent to Mantua
in that state by Alfonso in January 1497. It is possible that
the portrait for which Dosso Dossi was paid on 4 April
1526, often identified with Dosso’s portrait of Ervole
&' Eiste (Modena, Gal. & Mus. Estense), might be a copy
of Roberti's uafinished portrait. Alsoin 1494 Chiaca Clavell
commissioned Roberti to paint an altarpicce for S Spisito,
Ferrara. The contract stipulates an Annunciation with God
the Father and the Holy Spirit on a gable and 2 predella
with the Nativity, Adoration of the Magi and Presentagon
in the Temple (all unteaced). This is the only record of
Roberti’s being allowed to work for a patron outside the
Este houschold during the last decade of his life.

From 1494 undl his death Robert provided a number
of designs for sculptural commissions. The colossal eques-
toan monument of Ercole [ d'Este to be placed in the
Piazza Nuova is thought to be based on a design by
Robert (for illustration see A. Marest: Teatro gencologico
ot istorico deliantiche et illastri famiglie di Ferrara (Ferrara,
1671), ii, p- 152). Similarly, it is known that he furnished
drawings for the fagade and interior azchitectural sculprure
for Biagio Rosetti’s church of $ Mana in Vado, Ferrara.
Robert was last documented supplying an estimare for an
altarpiece for Fino Marsigli in 1496, He was buried in §
Domenico, Ferrara,
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Robert Matthew, Johnson-Marshall & Paseners, Brit-
ish architectural partnership formed in 1956 by Robert
(Hogg) Marthew (4 Edinburgh, 12 Dec 1906; 4 Humbis,
E. Lothian, 21 June 1975) and Stiszat Johnson-Marshall (&
India, 1912; 416 Dec 1981). Robert Matthew was the son
of John Fraser Matthew (1875-1955), a Scoetish architect
whao had bees in partnesship with Robert S, Lorimes. He
tezined at the Edinburgh College of Art and with Lorimer
& Mauhew (his father’s firm), Influenced by the thinking
of Patrick Geddes, he tsned gradually cowards the social
and strategic aspects of architecture and planning. For
some years from 1937 Matthew worked with the archirec-
tural staff of the Department of Health for Scodand. He
was then asked by Patrick Abererombie to assist on 2 plan
for the Clyde Valley commissioned by the Scottish Office
(1944-6). Martthew was architect to the London County
Council (LCC) from 1946 to 1952, the petiod of the first
post-World War II reconstruction in inner London, based
on Abercrombie’s plan of 1943, Matthew’s confidence,
fotcefulness, belief in teamwork and architecoural abilicy
cazned him universal respect. He reorganized the Jange
LCC Architect’s Department and broughe a spirit of
responsible Modemism to the social architecture of Lon-
don. He took charge of hundreds of LCC building
sthemes, including the Royal Festival Hall on the South
Bank (1948-51) for which he appointed 2 team of archi-
tects led by Leslic Mardn and Peter Moro, In 1953 he
returned to Edinburgh as Professor of Aschitecture at the
University and began 2 private practice, his first commis-
sion being Turnhouse Airport, Edinburgh. The growth of
this practice, notably through the commission of New
Zealand House, Haymarket, London, led him o establish
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Tunnard, John

and became an expert field botanist, collecting rare insects
for the British Museom. The rhythmical designs in his
work were inspired by these natusal forms and pethaps
also by his expenience as 2 musician. Such paintings as
Fudersme (1939, London, Tate), which included shapes
reminiscent of both Surrealist sculprure and modera
technology, represented an invented world of his own.
His later paintings frequently reflect his interest in space
exploration, as in Messenger (1969, priv. col,, see exh. cat,,
. 35)
P2 BIBLIOGRAPHY
Jobw Tamard (exh. cat, od. M. Glazebrook; Londar, ACGB, 1977)
ANN JONES

Tunner, Josef [Joseph| (Ernst) (b Oberpaden, Styria, 24
Sept 1792; d Graz, 10 Oct 1877). Austdan painter,
draughtsman and teacher. From 1810 to 1817 he studied
porteait painting ac the Akademie der Bildenden Kiinste
in Vienna and later travelled in Seyria and Catinthiz and to
Trieste, Inspired by such artists as Joseph von Fiihrich,
Leopold Kuppelwieser and Wilhelm August Rieder (1796
1880), he became interested in medieval art and worked
in Vienna both as a portrait painter and as a copyist of
religious subjects in the museums. In 1821 he marsied
Josephine Pichler, who died the following yeas, Tunner’s
painting (Graz, Neve Gal) of her with her two sisters is
in the tradition of 3 Nazazene family poztrai with Biedes-
meier overtones. In 1823 he moved to Rome, where he
was accepted into the citcle of the Nazatenes and where,
under their influence, he began the most productive part
of his career. Two years later he took chatge of organizing
their communal composition exercises in which they
painted mainly biblical and legeadary themes, and he
himself made copics (Graz, Neve Gal) after ptints by
Diirer and paintings by Fra Angelico, Perugino and
Raphacl. He was a close foend of Eduard Jakob von
Steinle, and they worked together on the frescoes of The
Visitation and The Anmunciation in Ttinit dei Moat,
Tunner doing the sketches and Steinle the paintings. He
also produced landscape drawings (Graz, Newe Gal) thae
are full of ammosphere and that convey his experience of
nature surely and spontancously while at the same time
expressing religious spirituality. He won the competition
for 2 painting of 7% Cruaifisdon (1836-8) for the altar of
the Cross in § Antonio Nuove, Trieste (deawings, Graz,
Newe Gal.) and for this was accepted, along with Ingres,
into the Coy ione dei virtuosi al Pantheon, Hence-
forth, he deaded to put his art at the service of the
Catholic Church and to do no further paintings ot drawings
of nude figures. ln 1840 he was appointed Director of the
Steinisch-Stindische Zeichnungsakademie in Grax, where
he methodically taught the principles of Nazarene ast to
aspiting students. He painted portraits of the local aristoc-
racy and received commissions for numerous altarpicces,
an important example being that of the Family of Matbias

- Canstantin Graf von Wickenbury (1844) for the alaar of the

Kische des Kurosts, Bad Gleichenberg, This was rendered
in the manner of a Venetian raena comversazione, with the
donor’s family expressing adoration. In 1870 he was
dismissed from the directorship because of strong criticism
of his dogmatic teaching methods; he had closed his mind

to all contemporary naturalistic wends and had totally

sejected landscape a3 a genre,
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Tupac Inca, Juan Tomis Tuyru. See TUYRL TUPAC
INCA, JUAN TOMAS.

Tura, Cosimo [Cosmé] (& Ferrars, 31430; dFertara, April
1495). Talian painter, He was court painter to the Este
family of Ferrara from 1458 until the mid-1480s. He was
the first and one of the greatest representatives of the
Ferrarese school of painting, but many of his most
important works, including the decoration of the library
of Pico della Misandola (1463-94), have heen either
destroyed or dismanded, and some of his large-scale
altarpieces are divided betwesn collections, His career is
well recorded and provides a vivid illustration of the role
and duties of a 15th-century court artist.

1. Life and woek. 2. Critical recepts and posts !

1. LI¥E AND WORK.
(@) To 149, (i) 1459-20. () 1471-95.
(2} To 1459. Tura is first recorded in Ferrars in 2 notarial

act of 28 July 1431, in which ‘Cosimo, the son of -

Domenico, the shoemaker’ is described as an infant, which
would sct the date of his birth some time within the
previous year. The first indications of an artistic career
oceurred 10 1451 whea, in association wich the painter
Galasso di Matteo Piva, Tura was called in to appraise &
set of trumpet banners painted by Jacopo Turolo, The
following year his name appeated among the regular
salaried members of the Este household whete he is
documented a5 having designed a joustng helmer deco-
rated with Borso d'Este’s imprese of the unicorn and palm
tzee for the St George's Day horse race; he also painted a
banaer for the wilors’ guild (which he was asked to repaint
four years later), and worked with the manuscept illumi-
nator Giorgio d’Alemagna and the carver Giovanni Carlo
di Bretagna on 17 small coffess (coffinetti) decorated with,
among other things, religious scenes and heraldic devices
of Duke Bozso.

Berween 1453 and 1456 Tura is absent from the ducal
records, Ventuti proposed that he had spent this time in
Padua and, perhaps, Venice. ‘The former suggestion is
based on the observation that seversl aspects of Tura's
painting style seem o be derived from the manneted
classicism of Francesco Squarcione and the Paduan school.
Specifically, these are similasities with the work of Manteg-
a4 and Niccold Pizzolo in the Ovetari Chapelin the church
of the Eremitani, Padua, which has prompted some critics
to suggest that Tura worked on or, at least, carefully
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these paintings. The proposed stay in Venice is

| from 2 passage in Tura’s first will (14 January
1471), i which he leaves money to the poor of Venice, It
has also been suggested thar during this visic he was
influenced by the recendly completed mosaic designed by
Andrez Castagno in the Mascoli Chapel in S Marco.

In 1456 Turz was in Ferrara and by 1457 he is listed as
living in the Castello and earning a regular salary from the
court of 15 lire per month. His oaly documented ducal
commussion for this year is for tapestry designs containing
the coat of arms and devices of the Duke, which were
subsequently woven by the Fleming Livina di Giglio.
Tusa’s first documented painting was a Nasiigy {1458;
untraced), commissioned by the ducal bailiff Vincenzo de’
Lardi, and placed in the Old Sacrsty of Ferrara Cathedral.
The work must have been pare of 2 portable altar since it
was transferred to the main sacristy of the cathedral during
the 18th century. According to 18th-century descriptions
it consisted of several small figures.

In 1458 Borso d'Este appointed Tura official coust
puinter, doubled his salary and placed him in charge of the
decoration of the ducal villa ar Belfiore. It is difficult o
assess Tura's contribution to the fresco cycle of the Nine
Muses (deste.), oniginally intended for the sudiols of
Borso’s father Leonello d’Este. Three contemporary doc-
uments relate to the project: a letter of 5 November 1457
from Guarino da Verona to Leonello d'Este, offering a
series of iconographic suggestions regarding the form and
auributes of the Muses; Cyniac of Ancona’s desceiption of
1449 of the finished paintings of Clio and Mejpansene he
had seen in the studio of the former coust painter, Angelo
del Macagnino; and the statement made by the Ferrarese
humanist Ludovico Carbone that Turs was responsible
for finishing the serics of the Muses begun by Angelo del
Mzcagnino. Unformnately the information contained in
these leters is not wholly consistent, thus making it
difficult either to make connections with extant works of
art or to reconstruct the iconographic programme. How-
ever, two panels have been proposed as possible compo-
nents of the decorative scheme: Tusa’s Enthroned CGaddess
(London, N.G.; see fig, 1), vatiously identified as Venus,
Spring and the nymph Esato; and the painting usually
called Charity (Milan, Mus, Poldi Pezzoli) but pethaps
intended 10 represent the muse Terpsichore. (The lower
half of the latter painting, showing three dancing childeen,
appears 10 be by Tura,) Resting on these suggestions is
the identification of Tura’s firse damable works and ous
understanding of the whale chronology of his ocuvre, If
the two paintings in London and Milan ase charactenstic
of Tura’s early work, they show him to be an artist much
more closely linked to the local tradition of Ferrarese
painting and the style of Angelo del Macagnino and
Michele Pannonio thas had hitherto been suspected. As a
result, stylisccally similas works such as the Vingin and
Child with 55 Apollonia and Jeromse (Ajaccio, Mus, Fesch),
dated by Longhi and Ortolani to the 14905, should be
madically redated to the late 14505 or eacly 1460s. The
transition from this softer, and slightly awkward style—via
peshaps the Pistd (Venice, Correr), the Crusifision (Wash-
mgton, DC, N.G.A.), the Ecce bomo (Vienna, Kunsthis-
torisches Mus.) and the Portrait of a Young Man (New
York, Met }—to the highly formalized structare 2nd figures

Tura, Cosimo, §1(ii}: Life 2nd work, 1459-70

1. Cosimo Tuara: Euntbroned Goddwrs, oil on panel, 1160 % 710 mm,
145963 (Londan, Natonal Gallery)

of Tus’s earliest extant documented wotk, the organ
shutters (1469; Ferrara, Mus, Duomo) for Ferrara Cathe-
dral, seems plausible.

(%) 1459-70. In 1459 Tura made designs for tapestries
that were probably commissioned as part of the festivites
surrounding the visit of Galeazzo Maria Sforza to the Este
cowt. It is also possible that Borso d’Este, constndy
beseeching Papal favour, may have been making prepara-
tons in the hope of receiving 2 much grander guess, since
Galeazzo Matiz was wravelling in the cortége of Pope Pivs
II. On 6 August 1462 Turz was paid for two tournament
costumes for Alberro Maria d’Este, which were covered
with gold lilies, silver daisies and images of sieves with
water running through them (the last probably being one
of Alberto Maria’s smprese). On 7 March and 14 July 1464
he was paid for futther tournament costumes for Alberto
Mada d’Este and Niccold d’Este and the following year
he decorated three pairs of horse trappings 1 be given as
a gift by Duke Borso to his favourite, Cavaliere Teofilo
Calcagnini.

Tura's absence from the ducal records between 1466
and 1467 suggests that during this period he was engaged
in the decoration of the library (destr) of Pico della
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2. Cosiono Tura: 5t Gearge awd the Dragon, 34935305 tmm, 1469 (Ferram, Museo
del Duomo); outside of the ongan shutters from Ferrara Cathedml

ara, Cosimo, §1 (i) : Life and work, 1459-70

Mirandola in the castie of Mirandola. A detailed descripuion
of the cycle is given in a dialogue by the Ferrarese humanist
Lelio Gregonio Giraldi. The decoration was apparently
arranged in six panels, each divided into three registers
and surmounted by 2 lunertte, It depicted the history of
poeury arranged chronologically from andient to modern
times. The lunettes contained toumphs of the different
poctical ages, and the scheme was bound together by a
frieze consisting of crowns, armonial devices and foliage.

By 31 December 1467 Tura had remurned w Ferrara,
mnvolved, again, with tapestry decoration. Late in 1467 he
also received a commission from the brothers Uberto
Sacran, Barolommeo Sacrat 2and Pietro Sacrati to decorate
the walls of their family chapel in § Domenico, Ferrara,
with the ‘enare story of the New Testament” and provide
an altarpicee of the Adoration of the Magi (both frescoes
and altarpiece destr.).

On 11 June 1469 Tura was paid for painting the organ
shutters (Ferrara, Mus, Duoma) for the great organ in
Ferrara Cathedral, Together with the severely damaged
frescoes of the Salone dei Mesi in the Palazzo Schifanoia,
Ferrara (see below), the organ shutters represent the bese
of Ferrarese paintng during the last half of the 15th
century. On the outside of the doors is an emotionally
mrbulent and picronially dynamic depiction of ¢ George
and the Dragon (sce fig. 2) set in a landseape. On the inside
is 2 dramatically different, serene image of the Amssnaa-
tion, set beneath a classicizing tiumphal arch. Stylistically

related to the cxgan shurtess, and therefore probably also
datable to the late 1460, are the Virpin and Child (Venice,
Accad.) and two tondi (both Ferrara, Pin. N.) depicting
scenes from the Iife of St Maurelius, painted for the chapel
of St Maurelius in S Giorgio fuon le Mura, Ferrara,

. On 30 May 1469 Tura signed a contract to decorate the
chapel of Belrguardo (destr.) near Voghiera. The terms
are interesting not only because they stipulate wages and
provisions for Tura and his two anonymous assistants, the
responsibility for materials and a time schedule, but also
because they indicate that the patron, Borso d’Este,
intended to devise the iconographic programme himself.
The progress of Tura's work is well documented, including
notations of his various trips to Venice o buy gold and
colours. Six months after beginning the project Tura was
sent by Boreo to Bresciz to lock at the Malatesta Chapel
in the Broleo (town hall), It is unclear whether Borso
intended Tura to study the decoration of the chapel as 2
whaole or just the frescoes by Gentile da Faboano. Either
way, it i a reflecton of Borso’s conservartive tste that he
chose to send his court painter to study work painted
some ffty years earlier.

An accurate picture of the subject-mattes and disposi-
ton of the decoration, in what appears to have been a
free-standing, centrally-domed, cruciform building, is
given in a contemporary description {31 March 1471) of
the programme, supplied by Baldassare d'Este and the
Venetan arnst Antonio Orsini when they were called upon
to evaluate the project. The paintings were executed in oil
znd represented God the Father, in the small dome of the
lantern, with eight semi-circular half-lengths of Evangelists
and Docrors of the Church arranged beneath, The aschi-
tectural components of the chapel were heavily decorated
with animal and vegetal reliefs, and highlighted by 2
contnuous frieze of 145 sculpted and gilt seraphim.

Despite repeated attempts to amach Tura’s name to
some aspect of the Salone dei Mesi frescoes in the Palazzo
Schifanoia, Fesrara, the stylistc evidence of Tura’s oeuvre
makes this unlikely. Baruffaldi’s suggestion was based on
the assumpdon that as court pzinter Tua must have
played a role. He proposed that Tura was responsible for
the cartoons and that the rest of the work was executed
by other painters, However, this overlooks the fact that
between 1468 and 1470, the probable date for the Schifan-
oia cycle, Tura was engaged in 2 number of other projects,
including the decoration of the Belriguzrdo chapel. Moze-
ovet, stylistcally, composidonally and, more tentatvely,
conceptually, the Schifanoia frescoes bear no more than a
genesic resemblance o 2ny of Tura’s known works,

(#7) 1471-95. On 14 January 1471 Tura made the first of
his three wills. His instructions indicate unexpected wealth
and properdes, In 1464 Tura haé bought 2 two-storey
house between the Via Cenroversuri and Via Boceanale in
Ferrara. In his first will he made provision for the erection
and decoration of a church dedicated to SS Costnas and
Damian in which he wanted to be buried, stipulated that
his 50 books and all of his drawings were to be left to a
certain ‘Domenicus filius Jacobi Valed)' and left large
legacies 10 the poor of Venice and to those nearest to him.
In August 1471 Borso d'Este died, and Tura was paid 20
lire for constructing the ducal catafalque. His official court
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title seems to have been changed or augmented 1o court
portrait painter with the succession of Eecole 1 d'Este,
Tusa’s first recorded duty for the new Duke was to supply
designs for a 36-picce silver set (to be executed by the
Venctian goldsmith Giorgio Alegretto da Ragusa), in-
tended for the celebration of the Duke’s impending
marriage to Eleanora of Aragon, The decotation, recorded
in detail in the register of the Guardaroba, consisted largely
of ducal fmprese and devices, but two of the flasks had the
unusual iconography of ‘wilkd men’, and the garands used
were descobed as a#anfica, In 1472 Tura executed por
tesits of Ereole I and of Lucregia d'Este {both untraced)
to be sent to Eleanora of Aragon in Naples. During the
late summer he provided 2 coloured sketch for a tapesty,
t0 be woven by Gievanni Mille and Rubinero ds Francia
for the marriage bed of Escole T and Eleanora. Between
147Z and 1474 he seems o have been occupied slmost
exclusively with tpestry designs.

The year of the death of Bishop Lorenzo Roverella
(1474) provides the apprzoximate date for Tura’s next
major commission, the Roverella altarpiece for $ Giorgio
fuori le Mura, Ferrara. Baruffaldi records the oziginal
location (on the wall in front of the chapel containing
Tura’s St Maurelius tondi) and the disposidon of the
panels within the altaspiece. The Vigin and Child mith
Music-making Angsls (London, N.G.; see fig, 3) comptised
the cenweal postion of the altarpicee and the 55 Pad and
Maurelins with the Knerling Niceoly Roverelia (Rome, Gal,
Colonna) was the right wing of the polyptych. The left
wing illustraced SS George and Petes, below whom the
kneeling Bishop Roverella was shown knocking on the
Gates of Paradise. Only » fragment of this, the FHead of St
Geeorge (San Diego, CA, Mus. A), has survived. The central
panel was surmounted by the hunette of the Lamenzation
(Paris, Louvre), Two addisonal half-lengths of SS Benedict
and Bemardo have been lost. In his reconstruction of the
Roverella alearpiece, Longhi suggested that the Cinom-
sion (Boston, MA, Isabella Stewart Gazdoer Mus.), the
Adoration of the Magi (Cambridge, MA, Harvard U, Fogg)
and the Flight inte Egpypt (New Yok, Met.) are three of a-
proposed seven tondi that formed the predella of the
alrarpiece. In addition to the fact that this contradicts
Baruffaldi’s observation that the predella was composed
of scenes from the lives of SS Benedict and Bernardo, the
use of historiated roundels in 2 predella is unprecedented,
Thus, although these tondi belong to the same stylistic
period 25 the Roverella altarpiece, it scems unlikely thar
they existed as a part of it. In the altarpiece, Tura's painting
technique has become appreciably harder and more styl-
ized. The figures seem to have Jost all trace of human
warmth both in their colouring and their emotonal states.
Othes paintings which can be dated 1o this period are the
8t Jerome (London, N.G.; sce fig. 4) with its cortesponding
fragment, the Cruaified Christ (Milan, Bresa), the _Annun-
chation, 5t Franeis and 5t Manrefins (all Washington, DC,
N.G.A.), the Virgin and Child (Rome, Gal. Colonna) and
the St Joby on Patmor (Genoa, Gaeceo prv. col.; see
Molajoli, pp. 86-7, no. 27,

In 1475 Turs made further tapestey designs, Between
1475 and 1483 the weaver Rubinetto da Francia is recorded
as working on an altarcloth; it is possible that Tura's
Lamentaton antependium  (Cologne, Neven-Dumont

Tura, Cosimo, §1(iii): Life and work, 1471-95

3. Cosiano Tura: Vingin and Child nivh Music-reaking Angsls, oil on
panel, 234x1.01 m, . 1474 (Loodon, National Gallery); central panel
of the Roverells sltarpicce

ptiv. col.; see Molajoli, p. 88, no. 28; copy, Cleveland, OH,
Mus. A)) dates from this period. Also in 1475 he was
commissioned by Ercole I d'Este to make a serics of
paintings for a small portable altar. The frame was cacved
by Betnardo da Venezia and the niello decoration executed
by Amadio da Milano. Appareatly Ezcole was dissadsfied
with Tura’s work and ordeted him to repaine it. The

431



Tura, Cosimo, §1(iii): Life and work, 1471-95

4. Cosimo Tura: 57 Jervme, oil oo panel, 1010 x 572 mm, 1471-95
({London, National Gallery)

contract stipulates a central Virgin 2nd Child flanked by
four standing saints, Several suggestions have been offered
a5 to which extant pancls might have belonged to this
altar. These include the four panels in Washington mea-
tioned sbove and the Madonna and Child {(Betgamo, Gal.
Accad. Carrara). In 1476 Tura was involved in a lawsuit
with the Ferrarese notaty Giscomo Pinzerna,

In 1477 Tura was commissioned to paint thres portraits
of the yeas-old prince, Affonss £ a"Este (all untraced). The
first was completed on 27 July, while the other two were
not finished until October. One of these portraits passed
via the Canoniti Collection into the collection of Baruf-
faldi's fathes, and the critie recalls it as ‘exemplaty above
all others”, In the same year Tura was asked to complete 2
set of seven female nudes (untraced), four of which had
been worked on previously, It is unclear if this is anothes
case of Tura having to repaint, or perhaps ‘update’ work
of his own or of others. Ruhmer sugpested that these
Bpures might relate to work Tura had done previously at
Belfiore and proposed that the brush drawing of 2 Seated

Winged Female Fignre (Berlin, Kupfesstichkab.,), which he”

called Charity, might be 2 preliminary study for one of the
paintings from this sedes.

In addition to supplying tapesery cartoons for a door
custain to be woven by Giovanni Mille, and a mule blanket,
ta be waven in several copies by Rinaldo da Bretagna, in
1479 Tura was paid by Eleanorz of Aragon for a portrait
of Luerezia d'Este (natraced) to be sent to Lucrezia's
fuancé, Annibale Bentivoglio. In 1480 Tura painted a
porteait of Irabella d’Este (untraced) for her intended
spouse, Francesco Gonzaga, Marchese of Mantua, and
was paid for a cartoon depicting a story of Soloman. In
1481 he is recorded collaborating with the intarsia worker
Tasto Tortoletto and, between 1483 and 1485, he was
engaged in making designs for an elaborate silver service
for Ludovico Sforza, Duke of Milan.

In aletter to Ercole I (8 Januasy 1490), complaining of
poverty and the unpaid debts due to him, Tura mentions
two paintings for which payment is outstanding, The firse,
a St Antbony of Padua (untraced), was painted for the
Monsignor of Adriz and cost 25 ducats, which indicates
cither that the painting was small or that Tura’s reputation
as an artist had suffered to the extent that he was no longer
able to command adequate fees. The second, an altarpiece
for S Niccolo, Ferrara, commissioned by the duca) seere-
tary Francesco Nasello and worth 60 ducats, has been
identificd with Tura's St Anthory of Padua (formerly called
St Giacomo della Marca, Modena, Gal. & Mus. Estense).
This association is slightly problematic as Tura does not
mention the subject of his painting for Nasello. He claimed
to have painted ‘similmente’ for Monsignor of Adria, but
it is doubtful that this refers 10 the subject-matter of the
painting. Moreoves, Tura mentoned that Nasello’s picture
had been coloured with gold at his own expense and the
Modena 37 Anthony has neither pold ground nor details,
In support of this ateribution, however, the painting can
be dated stylistically to 1484, thezeby complementing
Tum’s note recording that he finished these paintings six
years before the date of his letter, and the painting’s
provenance can be traced back to the church of § Niccold,
Ferrata. If the painting is part of the altarpiece painted for
Nasello, it is Tura's last documented work and shows him
as having developed 2 style of painting so mannered and
tense as to verge on the repellant, A number of small
panels, stylistically related to the Modena S¢ Aithony,
although not quite so austere, have beea vasiously arranged
by critics to form reconstructions of the dispersed altar-
pieces Tura painted during the mid-1480s, These iaclude
St James the Great (Cacn, Mus. B.-A.), ¢ Doneinie (Flor-
ence, Ufhzi), S¢ Anthony of Padna (Pads, Louvee) and
perhaps 5t Christapher and ¢ Sebastian (both Bedlin,
Bodemus.).

Ins 1485 Turz received his last court commission for a
bust-leagth portrait of Beatrice d’Este to be sent o her
betrothed, Ludovico Sforze. In 1486 he was moved from
his lodgings into one of the gate-towers of the city wall
near Porta Cosmaria, Ferrara, and lived with a certain
Teofilo di Jacopo Cescna, apparently a paintes or appren-
tce. From this time untl his death virtally all the
documents permaining to Tura centee on his complaints
about poverty. In 1487 he wrote 3 second will, asking to
be butied in § Giorgio. On 18 April 1491 he wrote his
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aand final will. He was buried, according 0 the request
w his third will, in § Lotenzo, Ferara,

2. CRITICAL RECEPTION AND POSTHUMOUS RESU-
TATION. At the height of his career Tura’s fame had
spread as far as the courts of Milan and Urbino. Filarete,
wn his Trattazs di architettura (1458-64), listed Tura with
Fza Filippo Lippi, Picro della Francesca, Squarcione and
VmoenzoFoppsasoneofdwmasmﬁnopaimindlc
wurtynxdofdquRtgiaofhismugmny’ i caty of
Sforzinda. Giovanni Santi, in his La vita ¢ fe geste di
Federico da Montefeltro (c. 1488-92), named Tura and
Escole de’ Roberti as the two exemplars of Ferrarese
painting. Tura's fortunes, however, were directly linked to
his patron Borso d’Este, after whose death in 1471 the
artist progressively lost commissions to his moze fashion-
able contemporanies. By the middle of the 16th century,
only some 50 years after his death, his name was all but
forgotren and he was only summarily mentioned by Vasari,
Ghrg;;m Baruffaldi was the first to restoze his reputation
during the 18th century, ciing him 2¢ the founder and

greatest repeesentative of the Fesrarese school. Despite
dsemlativcpcuu‘tyofturvivingworks.nwscamcmd in
different collections, archival work by scholars such as
Cittadella, Campori and Venturi has contributed greatly to
our understanding of his caseer,
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KRISTEN LIPPINCOTT

Tura, Pietro del. Scchr-.jgmo, PIETRO,

Tur ‘Abdin [Turk. Mazi Dag; Mt Masiug, Mt 1z1a). Plateau
in south-eastem Turkey, in what was northern Mesopo-
tamua, to the south and west of the Tigns River between
Diyarbakar (anc. Amida) and Nusaybin (anc. Nisibis"). The
Syriac name Tur ‘Abdin means ‘the mountain of the
servants (of God)', It is 2 rural area noted for irs Eacly
Christan and medieval architecture and for its medieval
illaminated manuscripts, From ¢ AD 300 onwards its cul-
tuze was influenced by that of the surrounding and nearby
cities of Amida, Nisibis, Dara (now Ofuz), Reshina
(Theodosicpolis), Martyropolis (now Silvan), Constantina
{now Virangehie) and the mare distant city of Edessa (now
Utfa; sre EARLY CHRISTIAN AND BYZANTINE ART, §II,
2(i}(d) and (ii)}{c)). The neasest large city is Mardin, a
medieval foundation,
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